No. S218497

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CENTINELA FREEMAN EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSOCIATES, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

SUPREME COURT

VS.

OCT 16 2014

HEALTH NET OF CALIFORNIA, INC., ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After An Opinion By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three, No. B238867

Appeal From A Judgment Of Dismissal Following Demurrer Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC415203 Honorable John Shepard Wiley

Service on the Attorney General and the Los Angeles District Attorney Required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.29(a) and (b)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. Does the delegation by a health care service plan (health plan) to an independent physicians association (IPA) under Health and Safety Code section 1371.4, subdivision (e) of the health plan's responsibility to reimburse emergency medical service providers for emergency care provided to the health plan's enrollees relieve the health plan of the ultimate obligation to pay for emergency medical care provided to its enrollees by non-contracting emergency medical service providers, if the IPA becomes insolvent and is unable to pay?
- 2. Does a health plan have a duty to emergency medical service providers to protect them from financial harm resulting from the insolvency of an IPA which is otherwise financially responsible for the emergency medical care provided to its enrollees?

II.

INTRODUCTION

In order to improve the quality of health care and control its cost, the California Legislature encourages health care service plans to enter into contracts with independent physicians associations (known as "IPAs" or risk-bearing organizations) to accept responsibility for managing the care of health plan enrollees

in exchange for monthly payments. As part of these managed care contracts, health plans are statutorily authorized to delegate to IPAs the obligation to pay non-contracted emergency physicians. In this case, defendant Health Plans entered into managed care contracts with and delegated their payment obligations to IPA La Vida in accordance with the comprehensive statutory and regulatory scheme adopted by the Legislature and the Department of Managed Health Care ("DMHC"). When La Vida subsequently began to experience financial problems, became insolvent, and could not meet the payment obligations it had assumed, plaintiff emergency physicians sued the Health Plans, asserting a common-law tort duty. Plaintiffs did not allege that the Health Plans violated any statutes, regulations, or directives of the DMHC in connection with their managed care contracts or the delegation of payment obligations. Under these circumstances, the Health Plans retained no obligation to pay plaintiffs for three reasons.

First, the California Legislature has specifically adopted the delegated model of health care services in the Knox-Keene Act. The purpose of this delegation model is to lower health care costs for patients "by transferring the financial risk of health care from patients to providers." (Health & Saf. Code § 1342, subd. (d).)¹ Subdivision (b) of section 1371.4, part of the Act's integrated

¹ All statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code unless otherwise noted.

managed care system, requires a health plan or its IPA to pay non-contracted emergency physicians for services rendered to the plan's enrollees. Subdivision (e), however, expressly permits health plans to "delegate" to IPAs their statutory responsibilities to reimburse non-contracted emergency physicians.

Through these managed care contracts, the financial risk of providing medical services (including emergency services) to health plan enrollees is shifted away from health plans and their enrollees and placed instead on IPAs, which retain all obligations to pay the providers. This model controls costs and improves quality of care by putting doctors closer to their patients both in terms of making medical decisions and managing the financial aspects of health care delivery, while also protecting the financial viability of providers and health plans.

Under the Legislature's comprehensive and integrated statutory scheme, overseen and enforced by the DMHC, once a health plan delegates its statutory obligation to reimburse emergency physicians to an IPA in accordance with the statutory scheme established in section 1371.4 and DMHC regulations, the health plan no longer retains residual liability to emergency physicians if the delegated IPA fails to pay. This is the only conclusion that comports with the fundamental purposes underlying the delegated model of health care the Legislature has adopted. Because the Health Plans delegated their payment obligations to La Vida in

accordance with the requirements of the statute and the regulations, the Health Plans have no statutory obligation to pay plaintiffs.

Second, the common-law duty that plaintiffs alleged and the Court of Appeal imposed cannot exist in the context of this highly regulated scheme, which establishes the parameters of any payment obligations health plans owe to providers. The Legislature and the DMHC carefully set the rules applicable to the health plan/IPA/emergency provider relationship, including when and how payment responsibilities may be delegated. Those rules not only address financial solvency concerns, but also include the requirement for plans to cooperate with corrective action plans established by the DMHC so as to minimize the risks of IPA failures, which would be detrimental to enrollees and providers. Where the Legislature has set forth ground rules governing proper delegation that carefully balance the interest of plans, their providers, enrollees. IPAs, and individual those statutory prescriptions must govern health plan conduct and liability. These statutory and regulatory provisions are the sole source of any health plan obligation to non-contracted emergency physicians, foreclosing the imposition of additional and inconsistent duties claimed to arise by virtue of a common-law tort duty.

Here, at the time the Health Plans entered into the managed care contracts with La Vida and delegated their payment responsibilities, La Vida was on the DMHC's list of financially solvent IPAs, and there are no allegations that the contracts violated

any statutory or regulatory requirements. Once La Vida's financial problems began to surface, the DMHC stepped in and imposed a mandatory corrective action plan with which the Health Plans were required to cooperate to restore the struggling IPA to solvency. Because the Health Plans delegated their payment obligations to La Vida pursuant to section 1371.4, subdivision (e), the Health Plans did not retain any obligation to reimburse plaintiffs for the reasonable value of their services to the Health Plans' enrollees. And, because section 1371.4, subdivision (e) expressly authorizes the delegation arrangements the Health Plans entered into, it precludes imposition of a duty of care arising from so-called "negligent delegations" where a plan delegated its obligations in accordance with the statute.

Third, not only is a common-law tort duty foreclosed by this comprehensive statutory and regulatory scheme, the *Biakanja* factors this Court has articulated to guide the analysis of whether a tort duty should be recognized in circumstances where no duty between the parties would otherwise exist are not met here.

In sum, a proper delegation under section 1371.4, which complies with the statutory and regulatory scheme, relieves a health plan of the ultimate obligation to pay emergency providers if the IPA later becomes insolvent and is unable to pay. And, the statutory and regulatory scheme establishes the duties owed by a health plan to emergency providers when the health plan delegates its payment obligation to an IPA. A health plan does not owe

emergency providers an additional and inconsistent tort duty to protect the providers from financial harm resulting from the insolvency of an IPA to whom the payment obligation has been properly delegated. The Court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal and order plaintiffs' complaint to be dismissed.

III.

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND

To address the issues in this appeal, it is necessary to describe the statutory and regulatory scheme governing managed health care in California. As will be shown, the Legislature has adopted a delegated model of managed health care and has charged the DMHC with monitoring the financial well-being of the participants in the system.

A. The Legislature Has Specifically Approved Risk-Shifting Agreements Between Health Plans And IPAs

"The Knox-Keene Act [the 'Act'] is a comprehensive system of licensing and regulation under the jurisdiction of the Department of Managed Health Care." (*Bell v. Blue Cross of California* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 211, 215.) "All aspects of the regulation of health plans are covered [by the comprehensive system], including financial stability, organization, advertising and capability to provide health services." (*Van de Kamp v. Gumbiner*

(1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1260, 1284.) The Health Plans are health care service plans licensed by the DMHC and subject to the Act.

California law authorizes health plans to provide health care services through a delegated model. (§ 1342.6 [declaring legislative intent "to promote various types of contracts between public or private payers of health care coverage, and institutional or professional providers of health care services"].) Under this model, a health plan contracts with medical professionals who accept responsibility for the financial risks and burdens of the care for the assigned enrollees in return for agreed-upon payments. (See California Medical Assn., Inc. v. Aetna U.S. Healthcare of California, Inc. (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 151, 162 (California Medical).)

The flexibility the delegation model offers in terms of sharing of financial risk with providers is the key feature that distinguishes health care service plans licensed under the Act from health insurers licensed under the Insurance Code. Risk-shifting arrangements thus are the cornerstone of the delegated model. (See § 1342.6.) The Legislature has specifically approved risk-shifting arrangements, including capitation agreements with "risk-bearing organizations."² (§ 1375.4, subd. (g).) Section 1348.6 expressly

² Under the Act, an IPA is a risk-bearing organization ("RBO"), defined as "a professional medical corporation, other form of corporation controlled by physicians and surgeons... or another lawfully organized group of physicians that delivers, furnishes, or otherwise arranges for or provides health care services, but does not

permits capitation payments, or shared-risk arrangements. (§ 1348.6, subd. (b).) The Legislature has recognized that, without this shift, the risk of rising health care costs would be borne by plans, and derivatively by their subscribers, whose rates are established based on the health costs experienced by the subscriber pool. (§ 1342, subd. (d).)

"Similarly, administrative regulations contemplate the contractual shifting of financial risk from health plans to other risk-bearing entities." (*California Medical*, *supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 162.) For example, the regulations define capitation as a "fixed per member per month payment or percentage of premium payment wherein the provider assumes the full risk for the cost of contracted services without regard to the type, value or frequency of services provided." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 28, § 1300.76, subd. (f).)³ Consistent with this structure, services paid on a capitated basis are

Continued from previous page.

include an individual or a health care service plan, and that does all of the following: (A) Contracts directly with a health care service plan or arranges for health care services for the health care service plan's enrollees. (B) Receives compensation for those services on any capitated or fixed periodic payment basis. (C) Is responsible for the processing and payment of claims made by providers for services rendered by those providers on behalf of a health care service plan that are covered under the capitation or fixed periodic payment made by the plan to the risk-bearing organization." (§ 1375.5, subd. (g).)

³ All citations to Title 28 of the California Code of Regulations are henceforth abbreviated as "Regs."

excluded when calculating a health plan's required tangible net equity or reserve. (Regs. § 1300.76, subd. (b)(3)(A) & (B).)

In a capitation arrangement, in exchange for receiving a set fee per enrollee from a health plan, the IPA assumes full responsibility for the costs of a specified set of health care services for the health plan's enrollees, allowing the plan to keep premiums predictable and affordable. (See, e.g., *Desert Healthcare Dist. v. Pacificare FHP, Inc.* (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 781, 785 (*Desert Healthcare*); Ochs v. PacifiCare of California (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 782, 787, 790-793 (Ochs).)

This model is designed to realize the legislative goals set forth in section 1342: (1) ensuring the "best possible health care for the public at the lowest possible cost by transferring the financial risk of health care from patients to providers"; (2) promoting "effective representation of the interests of" enrollees; (3) protecting the "financial stability" of the managed care system; and (4) providing patients with continuity of care. (§ 1342, subds. (d), (e), (f), and (g).)

The DMHC's website reflects a list of IPAs that are financially solvent and that meet the DMHC's financial grading criteria. La Vida was on that list when it entered into risk-shifting contracts with the Health Plans. (Department of Managed HealthCare, *RBO* & *Capitated Providers*, http://www.hmohelp.ca.gov/providers/rbo/rbo cap.aspx (as of Oct. 15, 2014); Opn. 12, fn. 16.)

B. The Legislature Also Has Specifically Approved Delegation Of Payment Responsibilities For Emergency Services To IPAs

Under state and federal law, emergency care "shall be provided to any person requesting the services or care" at any hospital with appropriate facilities and qualified personnel. (§ 1317, subd. (a); 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd(b).) Such services are to be provided without regard to the patient's "insurance status, economic status [or] ability to pay" and without first questioning the patient as to insurance or ability to pay. (§ 1317, subd. (b); 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd(h).)

Section 1371.4 of the Act governs health plan reimbursement of providers for emergency services. Subdivision (b) requires health plans or their IPAs to pay for emergency care rendered to the health plans' enrollees regardless of whether the emergency care provider is under contract with the plan: "A health care service plan, or its contracting medical providers, shall reimburse providers for emergency services and care provided to its enrollees, until the care results in the stabilization of the enrollee... As long as federal or state law requires that emergency services and care be provided without first questioning the patient's ability to pay, a health care service plan shall not require a provider to obtain authorization prior to the provision of emergency services and care necessary to stabilize the enrollee's emergency medical condition." (§ 1371.4, subd. (b), italics added.)

Although the Legislature imposed an obligation on health plans to reimburse emergency care providers, it also authorized health plans to delegate that obligation. Thus, subdivision (e) of section 1371.4 expressly permits health plans to delegate payment responsibilities for emergency services to IPAs: "A health care service plan may delegate the responsibilities enumerated in this section to the plan's contracting medical providers." (§ 1371.4, subd. (e).)4

C. Risk-Shifting Contracts Between Health Plans And IPAs Are Subject To Detailed Statutory Requirements

The Act establishes detailed standards and requirements for capitation and risk-shifting agreements between health plans and IPAs. Section 1375.4 contains a series of detailed provisions regarding an IPA's "administrative and financial capacity" that must be included in "[e]very contract between a health care service plan and a risk-bearing organization that is issued, amended, renewed, or delivered in this state " (§ 1375.4, subd. (a).) Specifically, the contract must include requirements that: (1) the risk-bearing organization furnish financial information to the health plan and

⁴ The transfer of liability embodied in subdivision (e) is echoed in the Legislature's rejection of vicarious liability for health plans and IPAs. (§ 1371.25; Watanabe v. California Physicians' Service (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 56, 64.) One who delegates its obligations is not vicariously liable for the acts or omissions of the delagatee. (See generally California Assn. of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 296-297.)

meet any other financial requirements that assist the health plan in maintaining the financial viability of its arrangements for the provision of health care services; (2) the health plan disclose information to the risk-bearing organization that enables the risk-bearing organization to be informed regarding the financial risk assumed under the contract; and (3) the health plan timely pay the risk-bearing organization.

Section 1375.5 provides that an IPA contract shall not require the IPA "to be at financial risk for the provision of health care services, unless the provision has first been negotiated and agreed to between the health care service plan and the risk-bearing organization." It further provides that "[t]his section shall not prevent a risk-bearing organization from accepting the financial risk pursuant to a contract that meets the requirements of Section 1375.4." (§ 1375.5.) Section 1375.6 provides that no IPA contract shall require a provider to accept rates or methods of payment for services from the IPA "unless the provision has been first negotiated and agreed to between the health care service plan and the risk-bearing organization." (§ 1375.6.)

Section 1375.4 empowers the DMHC to adopt regulations to implement its provisions regarding the contents of IPA contracts, including a "process for reviewing or grading risk-bearing organizations based on" various criteria relating to their financial viability, specifically their liabilities, net equity and working capital. (§ 1375.4, subds. (b)(1)(A)(i)-(iv).)

The DMHC's implementing regulations impose *further* requirements for "[e]very contract involving a risk arrangement between a plan" and an IPA. (Regs. § 1300.75.4.7.) These regulations require that the contract permit the DMHC to "[o]btain and evaluate supplemental financial information pertaining to the" IPA in certain circumstances, including if the IPA fails to satisfy financial grading criteria or "experiences an event that materially alters its ability" to meet that criteria. (*Ibid.*) The regulations also require that the contracts obligate both the health plan and the IPA to cooperate with the DMHC's processes for rehabilitating a financially troubled IPA. (Regs. § 1300.75.4.8.)

D. The Legislature Has Charged The DMHC With Monitoring The Financial Stability Of IPAs Through Its Regulatory Oversight Of Health Plans

Under the Act, the DMHC's "charge" is over the "execution of the laws . . . relating to health care service plans and the health care service plan business " (§§ 1341, 1341.9 [enumerating powers of DMHC's Director].) "[T]he Legislature attempted to avoid the direct approach" of regulating IPAs "by indirectly reaching contracting entities through the health care service plans that" contract with them. (*Desert Healthcare*, *supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 791.) The DMHC monitors IPAs generally through two methods.

Oversight Of IPA Contracts: The DMHC is required to "periodically evaluate contracts between health care service plans

and risk-bearing organizations to determine if any audit, evaluation or enforcement actions should be undertaken by the department." (§ 1375.4, subd. (c).) Consistent with this statutory charge, the regulations require that IPA contracts contain provisions obligating IPAs to comply with the DMHC's review and audit process and permitting the DMHC to obtain and evaluate IPAs' financial information. (Regs. §§ 1300.75.4.2, 1300.75.4.7.)

The statutes and regulations also contain numerous other requirements regarding the contents of contracts between health plans and IPAs that are designed to facilitate DMHC oversight. (§ 1375.4; Regs. § 1300.75.4.7.) The regulations require that such contracts obligate IPAs and health plans to furnish financial information to one another. (Regs. § 1300.75.4.1.) In turn, health plans must periodically provide to the DMHC financial information regarding their operations as well as the finances of their contracting IPAs. (Regs. § 1300.75.4.3.) Indeed, the statutes are designed to ensure that health plans inform the DMHC if an IPA is not timely paying claims. (§ 1375.4, subds. (a) & (b).)

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