No. S218497



JAN 3 0 2015

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CENTINELA FREEMAN EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants

VS.

HEALTH NET OF CALIFORNIA, INC., ET AL., Defendants and Respondents

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After An Opinion By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three, No. B238867

Service on the Attorney General and the Los Angeles District Attorney Required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.29(a) and (b)

MICHELMAN & ROBINSON, LLP

*Andrew H. Selesnick – State Bar No. 160516
Damaris L. Medina – State Bar No. 262788
Robin James – State Bar No. 150143

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE KNOX-KEENE ACT PERMITS – RATHER THAN FORECLOSES – A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE HEALTH PLANS FOR NEGLIGENT DELEGATION OF THE HEALTH PLANS' PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS AND/OR NEGLIGENT FAILURE TO RESUME PAYMENTS TO EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS WHEN THE IPAS BECOME UNABLE TO PAY.

A. Health and Safety Code Section 1371.25,

Which Expressly Allows Common-Law Suits

Against Health Plans, Defeats the Health

Plans' Argument that Statutes Exempt Them

from Common Law Liability.

The Health Plans devote a substantial portion of their Opening Brief on the Merits ("OBM") to arguing that health plans who delegate their compensation obligations pursuant to rules established in the Knox-Keene Act, and regulations promulgated thereunder, cannot be held liable for emergency physicians' compensation under any circumstances under any theory. (OBM 22-43.) This argument fails.

First, the Health Plans cite to section 1371.25 (OMB 11, fn. 4) to support a theory of statutory preclusion. The first part of section 1371.25 provides:

A plan, any entity contracting with a plan, and providers are each responsible for their own acts or omissions, and are not liable for the acts or omissions of, or the costs of defending, others. Any provision to the contrary in a contract with a provider is void and unenforceable.

While the above-quoted part of section 1371.25 supports the proposition that there is no vicarious liability after delegation, it does not support the position that the Health Plans cannot be held liable for their own actions. In fact, the remainder of the section, which the

Health Plans fail to cite, explicitly makes this distinction. The language that follows states (with added emphasis):

Nothing in this section shall preclude a finding of liability on the part of a plan, an entity contracting with a plan, or a provider, based on the doctrines of equitable indemnity, comparative negligence, contribution, or other statutory or common law bases for liability.⁶

Thus, the Knox-Keene Act expressly allows common-law suits against health plans based on their own wrongful conduct. The regulations would therefore allow a common law action here because the wrong that is alleged is that the Health Plans negligently delegated their duties to an IPA they knew, or should have known, did not have the ability to fulfil the Health Plans' obligations, and that the Health Plans failed to reassume their obligations after the date of delegation when they knew or should have known that the IPA would not be able to pay. The issue here is the Health Plans' direct actions and wrongdoing. The regulations therefore expressly allow common law causes of action against the Health Plans in this case based on the Health Plans' wrongful

The Court of Appeal noted that a non-contracted emergency physician generally has no recourse against a plan for an IPA's default. In reliance on section 1371.25, the court held that such a physician has a cause of action against the health plan if the IPA's failure to pay the physician is the result of the plan's negligent delegation of its payment obligation to the IPA. (Opn. 36 & fn. 34.)

conduct – i.e. negligent delegation, and their failure to reassume their payment obligations.

The Health Plans have also argued that case law precludes a per se cause of action for a health plan's failure to compensate emergency physicians in violation of Section 1317.4. The Emergency Physicians accept that case law precludes a per se cause of action for a health plan's failure to compensate emergency physicians in violation of Section 1317.4. (See Ochs, supra, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 789-793; see also opn. 27-28.)⁷ However, the Health Plans confuse per se liability based on violation of a statute with liability based on negligence, which is at the heart of this action. The unavailability of a statutory cause of action does not mean that a negligence cause of action is also unavailable – especially since Section 1371.25 permits the negligence cause of action that the Health Plans are wrongfully attempting to suppress.⁸

⁷ See also *CEP*, *supra*, 111 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1131-1133.

The availability of a cause of action based only on statutory liability would benefit the Emergency Physicians here: A statutory violation would be simpler to prove than a full-fledged negligence cause of action requiring proof of the existence of a duty owed by the defendant to the plaintiff, the defendant's breach of that duty, a causal connection between the breach and the plaintiff's damages, and the plaintiff's actual damages (*Johnson v. Prasad* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 74, 78) – a proof that is inherently more complex than the proof of violation of a statute.

B. The DMHC, in Interpreting its Own Regulatory
Scheme, Posits that the Knox-Keene Act and
Regulations Promulgated Thereunder Do Not
Bar Common Law Causes of Action by NonContracted Emergency Physicians.

In *Bell, supra,* a group of non-contracted emergency physicians sued a health plan, alleging that the health plan paid them less than the cost and value of their services. They sought to recover additional amounts as "disgorgement" and "damages" under theories of declaratory and injunctive relief, violations of Business and Professions Code section 17200, and quantum meruit. The health plan in *Bell* argued that the DMHC has exclusive jurisdiction to enforce the Knox-Keene Act and that the *Bell* plaintiff had no right to sue the health plan. (*Id.* at pp. 213-214.)

However, the DMHC submitted an amicus curiae brief in support of the emergency physicians. The DMHC argued that the Knox-Keene Act left the *Bell* plaintiffs free to pursue non-administrative theories of recovery, that the *Bell* plaintiffs' unfair competition claims did not infringe on the DMHC's jurisdiction, that no bar existed to the *Bell* plaintiffs' quantum meruit claim, and that the health plan's obligation to reimburse included an obligation to do so reasonably. (*Id.* at pp. 215, 217-218.) The *Bell* court agreed with the DMHC. The *Bell* court noted that "[t]he construction of a statute by the executive department charged with its administration is

entitled to great weight and substantial deference." (*Id.* at pp. 215, 217, fn. 8.) The *Bell* court held:

Any doubts about Dr. Bell's standing dissolves in light of the [DMHC's] support of private enforcement. An uncontroverted record establishes (1) that the [DMHC] "has consistently taken the position that a provider is free to seek redress in a court of law if he disputed a health plan's determination of the reasonable and customary value of covered services as required by section 1317.4," (2) that "providers are free to pursue alternate theories of recover to secure the reasonable value of their services based on common law theories of breach of contract and *quantum meruit*," and (3) that a "provider's private action for reimbursement under the UCL does not infringe upon the [DMHC's]

(*Bell*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 217-218 (ellipses and italics by court).) The *Bell* court continued quoting the DMHC as follows:

jurisdiction over the Knox-Keene Act."

"The [DMHC], unlike the courts, lacks the authority to set specific reimbursement rates under theories of quantum meruit and the jurisdiction to enforce a reimbursement determination on both the provider and the health plan. Because the [DMHC] cannot provide an adequate forum, health care providers must be allowed to maintain a cause of action in court to resolve individual claims-payment disputes over the reasonable value of their services."

(Bell, supra, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 218.)

The principles articulated by the DMHC and adopted by *Bell* are applicable to this case. It makes little sense to allow non-contracted emergency physicians to sue health plans when they believe they have received insufficient compensation but bar them from suing plans when neither a health plan nor an IPA pays them anything at all.

C. <u>The Health Plans' Authorities Are</u> <u>Distinguishable and Therefore Inapplicable.</u>

The cases cited by the Health Plans do not support preclusion of a negligence cause of action simply because the Health Plans were statutorily permitted to delegate their payment obligations to La Vida.

In *Gentry v. eBay, Inc.* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 816 ("*Gentry*") (discussed at page 36 of the OBM), the plaintiffs alleged that they had purchased forged autographed sports items though internet sales facilitator eBay. (*Id.* at p. 821.) The plaintiffs alleged, *inter alia*, that eBay was negligent and had engaged in unfair competition under Business and Professions Code sections 17200 *et seq.* by failing to provide certificates of authenticity for the autographed items, distributing false certificates, permitting false representations to be made on eBay's web site, and making its own misleading representations. (*Id.* at p. 820.) The court held that the unfair competition and negligence causes of action were barred by a federal statute – 47 U.S.C. § 230 – which states that "[n]o provider or

user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another information content provider" and that "[n]o cause of action may be brought and no liability may be imposed under any State or local law that is inconsistent with this section." (*Gentry, supra*, 99 Cal.App.4th at p. 828 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 230, subds. (c)(1), (e)(3).) The court concluded that section 230 provided immunity to eBay against the plaintiffs' negligence and unfair completion claims. (*Gentry, supra*, 99 Cal.App.4th at p. 830.)

In Harshbarger v. City of Colton (1988) 197 Cal.App.3d 1335 ("Harshbarger") (also discussed at page 36 of the OBM), the plaintiffs contracted with a general contractor to build a residence. Two inspectors employed by the defendant city ("City") periodically inspected the construction and represented after each inspection that the construction complied with applicable building codes. The general contractor stopped working on the house and, shortly thereafter, the City notified the plaintiffs that the house had numerous code violations. The plaintiffs paid approximately \$295,000 to another contractor to bring the house up to code standards. The plaintiff sued the individual inspectors and the City for intentional misrepresentation and suppression of fact and sued the City for negligent hiring. (Id. at pp. 1338-1339.) The defendants demurred on the ground that Government Code sections 815 et seq. gave the City (as a public entity) and the inspectors (as employees of a public entity) immunity against the plaintiffs' claims. (Id. at p.

1339.) The trial court sustained the demurrer without leave to amend (*id.*), and the Court of Appeal affirmed (*id.* at p. 1350).

In contrast to *Gentry* and *Harshbarger*, the Health Plans do not cite any statute that immunizes them against the Emergency Physicians' negligence cause of action. Indeed, in light of Section 1371.25, which permits common law causes of action against health plans for their own wrongful conduct, the Health Plans cannot allege such an immunity-granting statute.

The Health Plans also rely on Williams v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. (1990) 216 Cal.App.3d 1540 ("Williams"). The plaintiffs in Williams argued that their former insurer breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by cancelling their policy. However, the Williams court rejected this argument, partly because the controlling statute permitted cancellation. (Id. at pp. 1543, 1549.) The Health Plans argue that the Williams court's rejection of the plaintiffs' breach-of-the-covenant claim supports the Health Plans' claims of total statutory exoneration from liability on any theory. (OBM 36.) This description of Williams is vastly oversimplified and contrary to the court's reasoning. The court did not hold in favor of the insurer solely because a statute permitted cancellation. Instead, the Williams court also held that the agent told the plaintiffs that the policy would be cancelled before the plaintiffs purchased it and that, therefore, the insurer made no misrepresentation that could support a cause of action. (Williams, supra, 216 Cal.App.3d at p.1549.)

Moreover, the Williams court expressly acknowledged Spindle v. Travelers Ins. Cos. (1977) 66 Cal.App.3d 951 ("Spindle"), a case in which an insurer was held to have breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing based on the insurer's wrongful cancellation of the plaintiff's medical malpractice insurance policy. The insurer argued that it could have no cancellation-related liability because the policy specifically permitted the insurer to cancel the policy if the insurer followed certain procedures. (Id. at pp. 954, 956.) However, the Spindle plaintiff had alleged that the insurer cancelled his policy as a result of the insurer's malice towards him and for the purpose of discouraging other physicians/insureds from contesting a large premium increase. (Id. at pp. 954-955.) The Spindle court held that the complaint stated a cause of action for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing because the allegations, if proven, would constitute cancellation for an improper purpose even though the policy provided for cancellation by the insurer for any reason. (Id. at pp. 958-959.) Thus, Spindle illustrates that a cause of action exists when expressly permitted conduct is performed without due care or for an improper purpose.

Further, the Health Plans' contention that a statute permitting a type of conduct gives the actor a right to perform the permitted conduct in any manner regardless of the conduct's effect on others is nonsensical. The Court of Appeal best explained the flaw in the Health Plans' reasoning:

The [Plans'] argument is akin to suggesting that a driver's license provides the driver immunity for

negligently operating a vehicle or a handgun permit provides the gun owner immunity for negligently storing or discharging the firearm. That Health and Safety Code section 1371.4, subdivision (3) provides the [Plans] with permission to delegate their statutory duties does not immunize the [Plan] for doing so negligently.

(Opn. 36, fn. 33.) Simply, the Health Plans' argument fails.

D. <u>The Legislature Did Not Assign the Risk of</u> Defaulting IPAs to Emergency Physicians.

The Health Plans note that the Court of Appeal's holding is based largely on statutes requiring emergency physicians to treat all patients regardless of their ability to pay. The Court of Appeal held that because of this requirement, health plans should bear the risk of compensating emergency physicians if an IPA fails to pay them. (OBM 42 (citing opn. 4, 33).) The Health Plans argue that "[t]hese statutes placed [the] burden [of the risk of loss of nonpayment] on emergency physicians as a condition of their holding themselves out as emergency service providers" and that the Court of Appeal usurped the Legislature in lifting this purported burden from emergency physicians and placing it onto health plans. (OMB 42-43.) The Health Plans are incorrect because the statutes upon which they rely simply do not assign to emergency physicians the risk of non-payment when an IPA defaults.

The Health Plans violate United States Supreme Court Justice Felix Frankfurter's "three rules for mastering the meaning of a statute: '(1): Read the statute; (2) read the statute; (3) read the statute." (Enterprise Insurance Co. v. Mulleague (1987) 196
Cal.App.3d 528, 535 (quoting Friendly, Benchmarks (1967) Mr. Justice Frankfurter and the Reading of Statutes, p. 202).) Read accurately, the statutes cited by the Health Plans – 42 U.S.C § 1395dd et seq. and Section 1317 (OBM 42) – do not require emergency physicians to necessarily forego compensation when an IPA financially collapses.

1. The Federal Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor
Act does not require emergency physicians to bear the
risk of a delegatee IPA's failure to pay them.

The federal Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act ("EMTALA"), codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd, "regulates emergency room care in hospitals that accept Medicare patients[.]" (*Cherukuri v. Shalala* (6th Cir. 1999) 175 F.3d 446, 448 ("*Cherukuri*").) Thus, even if EMTALA could be read to require emergency physicians to treat patients for free when IPAs default (which it cannot), such requirement would only apply in the context of Medicare. Further, the language of EMTALA does not state that emergency physicians are required to treat patients for free so that health plans may continue to retain funds that would otherwise have compensated the physicians. (42 U.S.C. § 1395dd.)

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